



Università degli Studi Mediterranea di Reggio Calabria
Archivio Istituzionale dei prodotti della ricerca

Girdling stimulates anthocyanin accumulation and promotes sugar, organic acid, amino acid level and antioxidant activity in red plum: An overview of skin and pulp metabolomics

This is the peer reviewed version of the following article:

Original

Girdling stimulates anthocyanin accumulation and promotes sugar, organic acid, amino acid level and antioxidant activity in red plum: An overview of skin and pulp metabolomics / Lo Piccolo, E.; Araniti, F.; Landi, M.; Massai, R.; Guidi, L.; Abenavoli, M. R.; Remorini, D.. - In: SCIENTIA HORTICULTURAE. - ISSN 0304-4238. - 280:(2021), p. 109907. [10.1016/j.scienta.2021.109907]

Availability:

This version is available at: <https://hdl.handle.net/20.500.12318/118922> since: 2024-11-22T15:38:39Z

Published

DOI: <http://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2021.109907>

The final published version is available online at: <https://www.sciencedirect>.

Terms of use:

The terms and conditions for the reuse of this version of the manuscript are specified in the publishing policy. For all terms of use and more information see the publisher's website

Publisher copyright

This item was downloaded from IRIS Università Mediterranea di Reggio Calabria (<https://iris.unirc.it/>) When citing, please refer to the published version.

(Article begins on next page)

This is the peer reviewed version of the following article: Lo Piccolo et al (2021) Girdling stimulates anthocyanin accumulation and promotes sugar, organic acid, amino acid level and antioxidant activity in red plum: an overview of skin and pulp metabolomics. *Scientia Horticulturae*. 10.1016/j.scienta.2021.109907.

The terms and conditions for the reuse of this version of the manuscript are specified in the publishing policy. For all terms of use and more information see the publisher's website.

Girdling stimulates anthocyanin accumulation and promotes sugar, organic acid, amino acid level and antioxidant activity in red plum: an overview of skin and pulp metabolomics

Ermes Lo Piccolo^a, Fabrizio Araniti^b, Marco Landi^{a,c,*}, Rossano Massai^{a,c}, Lucia Guidi^{a,c}, Maria Rosa Abenavoli^b, Damiano Remorini^{a,c}

^a *Department of Agriculture, Food and Environment, University of Pisa, Via del Borghetto, 80 -56124 Pisa (Italy)*

^b *Department of Agraria, University 'Mediterranea' of Reggio Calabria, località Feo di Vito, 89122 Reggio Calabria (Italy)*

^c *Interdepartmental Research Center Nutrafood "Nutraceuticals and Food for Health", University of Pisa, Via del Borghetto, 80 – 56124 Pisa (Italy)*

*** Corresponding author:**

Dr. Marco LANDI

Department of Agriculture, Food and Environment, University of Pisa, Via del Borghetto, 80 -56124 Pisa (Italy)

Tel. +39 50 2216620

Email: marco.landi@unipi.it

Abstract

Girdling is a widespread agronomic technique to increase the fruit quality characteristics (e.g. size, solid soluble content [SSC] and colour). However, the information on the fruit metabolic

changes related to this practice still remains unclear and fragmentary. Moreover, girdling duration and application time may greatly affect the plant/fruit metabolic responses producing sometimes counterproductive results. Fruit quality, metabolomic and antioxidant analyses were conducted to characterise the effects of two different girdling dates (4- and 2-weeks before the harvest, 4W and 2W, respectively) in skin and pulp of red-fleshed plum (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). Overall, the pulp metabolism was altered in both 4W and 2W Girdling by inducing accumulation of sugars (sucrose ~~and~~ trehalose), sugar alcohols (inositol and xylitol), organic acids (especially some TCA cycle intermediates such as α -ketoglutaric, citric, isocitric, fumaric and malic acid), amino acids (β -Alanine and L-Proline), anthocyanins and other phenols, ~~whereas in~~ In the skin only girdling 4W showed major significant differences compared to the control increasing the fruit quality characteristics (size, SSC, dry matter and red colour) and showing greater metabolic changes with respect to the controls. Furthermore, the total antioxidant activity was also increased in both skin and pulp respect to other treatment only in Girdling 4W. This approach could be used with both *P. cerasifera* plums as well as other red-fleshed fruit species in order to ensure red-fleshed fruits production with a uniform red colouration and higher content of bioactive compounds.

Keywords: anthocyanin, colour, fruit, metabolomics, organic acid, sugar

1. Introduction

Nowadays, there is a growing demand from consumers for novel and bioactive-enriched fruits, in particular for red/purple fruits which include most of major antioxidant food sources (Espley et al., 2013; Hidalgo and Almajano, 2017; Khoo et al., 2017; Gramza-Michałowska et al., 2019). The fruit colouration in the pulp and especially in the skin (attractive qualities for consumers) is attributable to the presence of pigments i.e. chlorophylls, carotenoids and anthocyanins (Willson and Whelan, 1990; Kayesh et al., 2013).

Through the years, different agronomical strategies have been tested in order to improve fruit qualities (e.g. size, colour, soluble solid content, dry matter), and among these, the girdling technique have provided interesting results. Girdling is an old worldwide horticultural practice applied to increase flowering, fruit set and fruit size, maturity and higher quality, and to alter wood properties in forestry (Gawankar et al., 2019). Girdling is a surgically-induced stress which consists in removal of a ring of bark leading to an accumulation of carbohydrates above the girdling area (Goren et al., 2010). This technique is commonly used in grape production for enhancing berry colour and size, maturation and soluble solid content (SSC) (Koshita, 2015; Basile et al., 2018).

Girdling treatment, performed at different fruit developmental stages, was also tested on large branches of fruit trees for enhancing fruit attributes and it was found that fruit colour and weight were improved in some stone fruits belonging to the *Prunus* [family-genus](#) (Agusti et al., 1998). In a 2-year study conducted in Idaho, the girdling treatment was tested on ‘Aztec Fuji’ [apple](#) trees and it was shown to increase during the first year the fruit size, colour and firmness (Fallahi et al., 2018). Other positive effects on fruit quality given by girdling were found on barberry (*Berberis vulgaris*), kiwifruit (*Actinidia chinensis*) and sweet cherry (*Prunus avium*) (Nardozza et al., 2015; Mertes et al., 2016; Michailidis et al., 2020).

The reddish colouration in fruits mainly depends on the biosynthesis of colourful flavonoids, namely anthocyanins (Willson and Whelan, 1990; Kayesh et al., 2013). Noel (1970) hypothesised that, through phloem flux interruption, with a consequent sugar accumulation, anthocyanin biosynthesis could be positively affected, thereby leading to an increase in red colouration in plant tissues. Nowadays, some researchers have found that many of the genes encoding enzymes involved in anthocyanin biosynthesis are largely regulated by environmental factors such as light, temperature UV wavebands and also a clear correlation between sugar accumulation and anthocyanin production has been proven (Solfanelli et al., 2006; Das et al., 2012; Lo Piccolo et al., 2018; Nardozza et al., 2019; Lo Piccolo et al., 2020b).

Few works have evaluated the metabolic changes due to girdling treatment in fruits (Yang et al., 2013; Basile et al., 2018; Michailidis et al., 2020). It is conceivable that an increase in girdling-promoted sugar content in fruit tissue leads to increased biosynthesis of other molecules such as amino acids, vitamins, phenols and other bioactive compounds which are useful also for human health (Yang et al., 2013; Michailidis et al., 2020). Moreover, [many works analysed the effect of girdling at the early-growing season](#) during the fruit set stage (Agusti et al., 1998; Gawankar et al., 2019; Michailidis et al., 2020). [On the contrary, less information is available about late season girdling effects](#) (Basile et al., 2018; Day and DeJong, 1998), [raising doubts about the consistency of fruit growth promoting effects by this technique when applied at late stages](#) (Day and DeJong, 1998). [Besides, it still remains to elucidate whether late girdling treatment affects the fruit physiological responses, and the treatment duration leads](#) to different results.

The production of fruits with enriched antioxidant proprieties could further satisfy the increasing demand of ‘nutrafruit’ (fruits with good nutritional/nutraceutical characteristics), for its positive correlation with human health (Szajdek and Borowska, 2008; Battino et al., 2009).

Prunus cerasifera Ehrh., commonly called myrobalan or cherry plum, belonging to the *Rosaceae* family, is native to the Southeastern Europe to western Asia. The *P. cerasifera* var. *pissardii* has been widely used as ornamental tree species, even though its reddish edible fruits have also been studied for their richness in antioxidants and vitamins (Kırbağ and Göztok, 2016). Previous works, conducted on leaves of *P. cerasifera* var. *pissardii*, highlighted a close correlation between leaf carbohydrate content and anthocyanin accumulation (Lo Piccolo et al., 2018). A rapid change of leaf colour toward a darker red (supportive for higher anthocyanin level) was observed following accumulation of soluble sugars either in case of sink-source manipulation (Lo Piccolo et al., 2020b) or in natural conditions (Lo Piccolo et al., 2018, 2020a).

In view of the strict interplay between sugar metabolism, anthocyanin accumulation and antioxidant properties of the whole fruit, we hypothesized that the effect of bark girdling influences *P. cerasifera* fruit features. In particular, we tested whether fruits of *P. cerasifera* var. *pissardii* were influenced by two different girdling treatment, [performed at late fruit growth stage](#) (4- and 2-weeks before the harvest), in both physio-quality attributes (size, colour, SSC) and/or metabolomics profile at both pulp and skin level. To elucidate the possible time-effect of late girdling ('final sweet' stage) in *P. cerasifera* var. *pissardii* fruits, girdling treatments were applied and a deep untargeted metabolomics approach was used to depict the fruit biochemical features after girdling.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Plant material

Experiments were carried out with fruits collected from [five](#) 10-year-old *Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii* trees, grown in the garden of the Department of Agriculture, Food and Environment of the University of Pisa (43°42'40.9"N 10°24'40.9"E). Girdling treatment was applied at two experimental time points (4- and 2- weeks, 4W and 2W respectively) before the

harvest time (June). For the experiments on plants, two homogeneous (in terms of canopy position, light exposition, dimension and leaf number) 2-year-old branches were chosen for each treatment in each tree. Girdling treatment was performed at 1.5 m from the end of the tree branch (\varnothing 15 mm).

On June, at harvest time, 20 plum fruits were sampled (2 per branch per each tree) for each treatment. In all the experiments, singly-grown fruits were harvested at 11 a.m. Fruit were washed twice with tap water and finally with distilled water before their peeling. Physical and chemical harvest indexes were estimated for each sampled fruit and included: (i) fresh weight (FW; g), height (mm), width (mm), (ii) skin and pulp dry matter (%) and ~~soluble solid content~~ SSC (SSC, °Brix), which was determined in flesh juice samples using a digital refractometer (Mod. 53 011, Turoni, Forli, Italy), (iii) skin and pulp colour. Dry matter content of pulp and skin samples was determined gravimetrically by oven drying at 65 °C until constant weight ($n = 20$). The remained pulp and peel sample parts were cut into small pieces (about 5 x 5 x 5 mm), placed in Falcon tubes, frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80 °C for biochemical analyses.

2.2. Colour analysis

Fruit skin and pulp colour ($n = 20$) was recorded using standard CIELab, color space coordinates determined using a spectrometer Ocean Optic HR2000-UV-VIS-NIR (Ocean Optics, Florida, USA). Values of lightness (L^*), redness and greenness (a^* and $-a^*$), yellowness and blueness (b^* and $-b^*$) were determined on the hue circle. Chroma (C^*) was calculated as $(a^{*2} + b^{*2})^{1/2}$, and the hue angle, $\text{hue} = \arctg(b^*/a^*)$, expresses the colour nuance.

2.3. Pigment analyses

Total anthocyanin concentration (TA) was determined using the pH differential method (Giusti and Wrolstad, 2001). About 100 mg of fresh skin and pulp material was extracted in acidified methanol (1.5% HCl, v/v) and kept overnight at room temperature. The absorbance was recorded at 530 and 700 nm using an Ultrospec 2100 Pro UV–VIS spectrophotometer (GE Healthcare Ltd., Chicago, IL). The final absorbance (A_f) of diluted samples was calculated as follows:

$$A_f = (A_{530} - A_{700})_{\text{pH } 1.0} - (A_{530} - A_{700})_{\text{pH } 4.5}$$

TA was expressed as cyanidin-3-*O*- glucoside (molar extinction coefficient of 34,300 L cm⁻¹ mol⁻¹ and molecular weight 484.3 g mol⁻¹) equivalents. Measurements of TA was determined in each analysed fruit sample ($n = 20$).

Total chlorophyll (Chl_{TOT}) and carotenoid (Car) concentrations were determined according to Zhang and Kirkham (1996) with some modifications. The analyses were conducted in five replicates, using 4 fruit samples per replicate ($n = 20$). About 50 mg of freeze-dried fruit samples (skin and pulp), were ground in 10 mL of 80% aqueous acetone. The homogenate was centrifuged at 7,000 *g* for 10 min. The supernatant was collected and the pellet was suspended in 1 mL of 80% aqueous acetone and centrifuged again as mentioned above. Elution and centrifugations were repeated until the pellet was completely discoloured. The supernatant absorbances at 663, 648 and 470 nm were measured. Chl_{TOT} were measured as the sum of Chl *a* and *b*. Chl *a* and *b* content and total carotenoid concentration were calculated according to Lichtenthaler (1987).

2.4. Total Antioxidant Activity (TAA) analysis

Freeze-dried skin and pulp samples (about 0.05 g FW) were homogenised with 1 mL of 70% (v/v) 99.5% HPLC grade methanol by sonication for 30 min, keeping the temperature

within the range 0 to 4 °C. After centrifugation (6,000 g for 10 min at 4 °C), supernatants were collected and filtered through PTFE filters (0.20 µm pore size; Sarstedt, Verona, Italy). The extractions were conducted in five replicates, using 4 fruits per replicate (20 fruits in total). Extracts were stored at -80 °C before analysis. To estimate the TAA, the 2,2-difenil-1-picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) assay was done according to Brand-Williams et al. (1995) method. Briefly, 15 µL of previous extract was added to 2.985 mL of a solution containing 3.12×10^{-5} M DPPH in methanol. The decrease in absorbance at 515 nm was measured against a blank solution (without extract) after 30 min of reaction time at room temperature (optimised for the highest antioxidant concentrations in the extract) using a spectrophotometer (Ultrospec 2100 Pro UV-VIS). Results are expressed as mg Trolox equivalent (TE) g⁻¹ FW.

2.5. Metabolome extraction, derivatisation, and GC-MS analysis

Plant materials were collected and immediately snap frozen in liquid nitrogen to quench the endogenous metabolism. Freshly homogenized (100 mg) plant material, for each sample and replicates, was lyophilized at -40 °C. Extraction, internal standard addition (ribitol 0.2 mg ml⁻¹) and derivatization was carried out following the protocol described by (Lisec et al., (2006).

The derivatised extracts were injected into a MEGA-5MS capillary column (30 m x 0.25 mm x 0.25 µm + 10 m of pre-column) (MEGA S.r.l., Milan, Italy) using a gas chromatograph apparatus (Trace GC 1310, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) equipped with a single quadrupole mass spectrometer (ISQ LT, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, US). Injector and source were set at 250 °C and 260 °C temperature, respectively. One µl of sample was injected in splitless mode with a helium flow of 1 ml min⁻¹ using the following programmed temperature: isothermal 5 min at 70 °C followed by a 10 °C min⁻¹ ramp to 350 °C and a final 5 min heating at 330 °C. Mass spectra were recorded in electronic impact (EI) mode at 70 eV, scanning at 40-600 m z⁻¹ range, scan time 0.2 sec. Mass

spectrometric solvent delay was settled at 7 min. Pooled samples, as quality control (QCs), n-alkane standards (for retention index calculation), blank solvents (pyridine) were injected at scheduled intervals for instrumental performance, tentative identification, and monitoring of shifts in retention indices.

Raw data (.RAW) were then analysed through the open source software MS DIAL and open source EI spectra library were used for raw peaks extraction, data baseline filtering and calibration, peak alignment, deconvolution analysis, peak identification and integration of the peak height as previously described by Tsugawa et al., (2015). For MS-DIAL data annotations, based on the mass spectral pattern as compared to EI spectral libraries, the following commercial and publicly available libraries were used: NIST Mass Spectral Reference Library (NIST14/2014), MSRI spectral libraries from Golm Metabolome Database (Kopka, 2006), MassBank (Horai et al., 2010) and MoNA (Mass Bank of North America, (<http://mona.fiehnlab.ucdavis.edu/>)).

Once the compounds and features were identified, using the previously mentioned libraries, they were annotated. For metabolite annotation and assignment of the EI-MS spectra, we followed the metabolomics standards initiative (MSI) guidelines (Sumner et al., 2007).

2.6. Statistical analyses

Data were subjected to a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) with girdling treatment as the variability factor, and then the means were separated with Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) post-hoc test ($P \leq 0.05$). All the statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad (GraphPad, La Jolla, CA, USA). Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. The correlation matrix was carried out using GraphPad software.

Metabolomic data extracted from MSDIAL were statistically analysed using the open source software Metaboanalyst (Chong et al., 2018).

Metabolite concentrations were checked for integrity and missing values were replaced with a small positive value (the half of the minimum positive number detected in the data). Data were successively normalized by the internal standard ribitol, transformed through “Log normalization” (to make the metabolite concentration values more comparable among different compounds) and scaled through Pareto-Scaling (values were mean-centered and divided by the square root of standard deviation of each variable). Data were then classified through Principal Component Analysis getting the score plots, to visualize the contrast between different samples, and the loading plots to explain the cluster separation.

3. Results

3.1. Fruit morpho-metric and quality parameters

The fruit average width, height and weight were positively influenced by Girdling 4W treatment showing higher values with respect to both the control and Girdling 2W (~66 and ~7 % of width, ~6 and ~56 % of height and ~24 and ~25 % of weight more than control and Girdling 2W, respectively, respectively; $P \leq 0.01$ $P \leq 0.01$; Table 1).

The fruit quality parameter SSC increased in Girdling 2W fruits and even more in those belonging to the 4W treatment respect to control fruit (8 and 14 % respectively; $P \leq 0.001$ $P < 0.001$; Table 1). In terms of DM in fruit pulp and skin, control and girdled fruits showed only significant differences ($P \leq 0.05$ $P < 0.05$) in fruit pulp, for which higher values (~10 %) were measured in both Girdling 2W and 4W treatments with respect to control fruits (Table 1).

3.2. Colour changes in fruit pulp and skin

Colorimetric CIELab results are summarised in Table 2. Values of L* measured in fruit pulp were negatively influenced by girdling treatment ($P \leq 0.001$ $P < 0.001$), showing lower

values than controls, depending on the duration of treatment (-27 and 47 % in 2W and 4W Girdling, respectively). Conversely, in fruit skin, only the Girdling 4W treatment showed lower values in L* (~47 %) with respect to both control and 2W treatment ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$).

Values of a* were higher ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$) in pulp of fruits belonging to both the girdling treatments (~42 %) when compared to controls, whereas only Girdling 2W fruits showed higher ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$) values of a* (14 %) in the skin with respect to both control and Girdling 4W fruits.

In fruit pulp, b* parameter was lower ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$) in Girdling 2W and even more in 4W treatment (25 and 49 %, respectively) with respect to the control. In fruit skin, control and Girdling 4W showed lower b* values ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$) than Girdling 2W (27 and 60 %, respectively).

Values of C* detected in fruit pulp decreased in relation to the duration of girdling treatment ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$), compared to control fruits (8 and 20 % in 2W and 4W, respectively). In fruit skin, Girdling 2W and 4W showed the highest and the lowest C* values, respectively ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$).

The h_{ab} values decreased in fruit pulp along with the duration of treatment with respect to the control (28 and 45 % in 2W and 4W, respectively; ~~$P \leq 0.001$~~ $P \leq 0.001$), while in fruit skin only Girdling 4W had lower values than the control and Girdling 2W (~45%) fruits ~~($P \leq 0.001$)~~($P \leq 0.001$).

According to CIE XYZ model, the treatments differed in chromaticity coordinates (x and y) respect to the control both in fruit skin and pulp (Fig. 1A,B). The CIE diagram showed that the control fruit pulp x, y values fall in the orange region whereas those of Girdling 2W and 4W treatments in the reddish-orange one. Fruit skin x, y values of all the three treatments fall in the same red region.

3.3. Pigment analysis in fruit pulp and skin

TA, Chl_{TOT}, and Car contents in fruit pulp and skin are summarised in Table 3. TA content increased markedly (~~$P \leq 0.001$~~) ($P < 0.001$) along with the duration of girdling treatment in both fruit pulp and skin respect to the control (50 and 100 % in pulp of fruit from ~~plants~~ branches subjected to 2W and 4W, respectively; 24 and 64 % in skin of fruit from branches ~~plants~~ subjected to 2W and 4W, respectively). No changes in Chl_{TOT} content were detected in fruit pulp among treatments, whereas in fruit skin, both ~~the~~ girdling treatments showed lower values (~~$P \leq 0.01$~~) ($P \leq 0.01$) than the control fruits (~22 %). No significant differences were detected in Car content in both fruit pulp and skin among treatments.

Significant positive and negative correlations between TA, quality and colour parameters in fruit pulp and skin were found (Fig. 2). In fruit pulp, TA content was positively correlated with a*, DM and SSC (~~$P < 0.001$~~) ($P < 0.001$) and negatively correlated with L*, b*, C* and h_{ab} ($P < 0.001$). In fruit skin, the TA content was only positively correlated with SSC and negatively correlated with L*, h_{ab} ($P < 0.001$) and b* ($P < 0.01$).

3.4. Total antioxidant activity changes in fruit pulp and skin

~~Total antioxidant activity (TAA)~~ data are summarised in Fig 3. In fruit pulp, only in Girdling 4W was detected a significant increase in TAA (66 %) respect to the control (~~$P \leq 0.001$~~) ($P \leq 0.001$). A similar pattern was showed in fruit skin with higher TAA values (31 %) registered in Girdling 4W respect to the control (~~$P \leq 0.05$~~) ($P \leq 0.05$). Moreover, in each treatment, TAA levels were higher in skin respect to pulp (values compared by Student's t-test, $P < 0.05$).

3.5. Metabolic alteration in pulp and skin of fruits under different girdling treatments

To get more insights into metabolome modulation induced by girdling treatment, GC/MS-driven untargeted-metabolomic analysis was performed on both pulp and skin data, allowing to identify and annotate 112 and 81 metabolites (amino acids, organic acids, phenols, sugars, sugar alcohols, amino acid derivatives and miscellaneous) in the pulp and skin (Supplementary Table A.1 and A.2), respectively.

~~Metabolomic data in fruit pulp were analyzed through principal component analysis (PCA).~~ In Fig 4A is reported the PCA score plot, which allowed samples separation basing on their metabolite profiles. Instead, the Fig 4B reported the PCA loading plot that allowed the identification of metabolites that contributes to samples separation reported on the score plot. Groups separation was achieved using the principal components (PCs) PC1 vs PC2, which explained a total variance of 57.9 %. In particular, PC1 and PC2 explained the 35.5 % and 22.4 % of the variance, respectively. In addition, the loading plots demonstrated that the PC1 was dominated by GABA, nonacosane, L-alanine and adenosine, whereas the PC2 by L-tryptophan, L-proline and oxalic acid (Fig 4B and Supplementary Table A.3).

As well as the pulp also in the skin the PCA analysis showed a clear separation among all treatments (Fig. 4C), highlighting that the principal components (PCs) PC1 (42 %) vs PC2 (25.5 %) explained a total variance of 67.5 % (Fig 4C). The PCA loading plot in Fig 4D shows that the PC1 was mainly dominated by maltitol, benzoic acid, trisaccharide, L-threonine and norvaline whereas the PC2 by fructose, methylsuccinic acid, trehalose, mannitol, H-1ndole-3-acetamide, dehydroascorbic acid, Epicatechin and galactose-6-phosphate and arabitol (Fig. 4D, Supplementary Table A.4).

The univariate analysis one-way ANOVA using the LSD test as post hoc ($P \leq 0.05$) was carried out on every individual compound identified in both skin and pulp. To control for false positive findings, a False Discovery Rate (FDR) was applied on the nominal p -values showing that there are 63 and 51 significant compounds (amino acids, organic acids, phenols, sugars,

sugar alcohols, amino acid derivatives and miscellaneous) with p -value lower than 0.05 (after the FDR correction) in pulp and skin, respectively (Tab. 4, Supplementary Table A.5 and A.6).

In fruit pulp, Girdling 4W increased 30 polar primary metabolites (5 amino acids, 8 organic acids, 12 sugars and 5 sugar alcohols), decreasing 9 (2 amino acids, 5 organic acids, 1 sugar and 1 sugar alcohol) respect to the control; whereas 32 polar primary metabolites (3 amino acids, 13 organic acids, 10 sugars, 3 sugar alcohols and 3 amino acid derivatives) were increased in Girdling 2W and only one (shikimic acid) was decreased respect to the control. Girdling treatments induced the accumulation of several soluble sugars and sugar alcohols (e.g. sucrose, trehalose, xylitol, inositol), amino acids (e.g. proline, b-alanine), organic acids (citric acid, malic acid, a-ketoglutaric acid). To note that the duration of girdling as well as the fruit stage in which girdling was done, differently influenced the group of accumulated polar primary metabolites (Tab. 4). In fruit pulp, among detected phenols chlorogenic acid, epicatechin were positively affected by Girdling 4W and, whereas pyrogallol only by 2W treatment.

In fruit skin, contrasting effects between girdling treatments were detected. In Girdling 4W, 31 polar primary metabolites (7 amino acids, 10 organic acids, 6 sugars, 6 sugar alcohols and 2 amino acid derivatives) were increased while 4 (3 organic acids and 1 sugar) decreased respect to the control. In Girdling 2W, 11 polar primary metabolites (2 amino acids, 4 organic acids, 1 sugar and 3 sugar alcohol and 1 amino acid derivatives) were increased and 16 (4 amino acids, 4 organic acids, 4 sugars, 2 sugar alcohols and 2 amino acid derivatives) decreased respect to the control. In particular, epicatechin and ferulic acid were positively affected by both girdling treatments respect to the control (Table 4).

4. Discussion

4.1. Girdling influences on quality fruit traits

Girdling is a well-known agronomical practice used in different fruit-crop species such as grape, cherry [and](#); peaches to increase the fruit quality traits. However, there is very little information on the physiological effects exerted by this treatment in plum species (Day and DeJong, 1998; Ilha et al., 1999; Neeraj, 2011). The first goal of this work was the evaluation of the morpho-metric and quality feature (i.e. dimensions, SSC, DM and colour) changes exerted by 2 and 4W-long girdling treatment.

The improvement in fruit size is a common phenomenon induced by girdling already reported for plum or other fruit species belonging to the *Prunus* genus (Day and DeJong, 1998; Neeraj, 2011; Moscatello et al., 2017; Michailidis et al., 2020). Nevertheless, Day and DeJong, (1998) raised for plums the problem of girdling timing; given that a late girdling may not affect the fruit size, the suggestion was to apply the girdling at a very early stage (e.g. after petal-fall). However, our experiments, in which both girdling treatments were applied in late stage of fruit development (4- and 2-weeks before the harvest, namely ‘final swell’ stage), it was observed that 4W branch girdling had a positive effect on fruit size, whereas the girdling performed in a later stage of fruit development (2-weeks before the harvest) did not affect the fruit size, likely because it was too close to the harvest time to promote such a macroscopic fruit response.

The fruit represents a strong plant sink, and girdling conditions can favour an ‘extra’ accumulation of soluble solids in fruit above the girdling site by limiting the sink competition for sugars (e.g. other fruits, new shoots or branches), as also confirmed by our experimental analysis and in accordance with previous works (Di Vaio et al., 2001; Goren et al., 2010).

The increase in fruit DM, especially in the pulp is another factor linked to the increased availability of carbohydrates to fruit, the only strong active sink, since no significant increase in wood DM was observed in girdled branches (Supplementary Fig. A.1).

4.2. Fruit colour changes due to girdling

Fruit colour is a well-appreciated trait by consumers, which is dependent on both the maturity stage as well as changes in pigment pattern (e.g. chlorophyll degradation and anthocyanin accumulation) due to environmental factors, which might be not directly related to the ripening development. In particular, ripe plums of *Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii* reached a very attractive dark-red colouration on skin and in pulp at full maturity. Moreover, the fruit skin appearance can strongly influence the consumer choice, and especially the skin colour is one of the most important traits to determine the fruit aesthetic value (Kayesh et al., 2013).

In our experiment, girdling treatment influenced the pigment composition in both fruit pulp and skin, mainly promoting the biosynthesis of anthocyanins that were increased linearly with the girdling duration in both fruit pulp and skin. In particular, the red colouration increased in the pulp (lower values of h_{ab} respect to control). In plum fruit, as also visually confirmed by chromatic graph (Fig. 1). In the fruit skin, only the Girdling 4W resulted in an appreciable darker red colouration (compared to the control), showing similar trend of chromatic parameters to those measured in the pulp. The increase in reddish colouration increment in plum can be ascribed to the increased biosynthesis of red/purple pigments (anthocyanins) and/or the degradation of other coloured molecules such as chlorophylls and carotenoids (Olivares et al., 2017). Indeed, under 2W girdling treatment, the anthocyanin increase in the fruit skin was too low to be detected. The anthocyanin increase induced by girdling was reported in some fruits, e.g. in grapes (Basile et al., 2018) red kiwifruit (Nardozza et al., 2018) and cherries (Michailidis et al., 2020). The increase in anthocyanins was positively correlated with SSC and DM, suggesting a strictly link between anthocyanin and soluble sugar content as discussed in the next paragraphs.

Besides anthocyanins, chlorophylls and carotenoids are other pivotal pigments in contributing to fruit colouration. Girdling treatment also significantly induced the decrease in chlorophyll concentration in fruit skin respect to the control fruits. The higher chlorophyll degradation could be due to an advanced fruit ripe stage given by girdling treatment, that promotes the chlorophyll breakdown (Kato and Shimizu, 1985; Hörtensteiner and Kräutler, 2011).

4.3. Metabolic alteration in pulp

In the fruit ripening process, complex coordination changes among metabolites (e.g. sugars, organic acids and amino acids) take place influencing flavour and organoleptic fruit characteristics (Batista-Silva et al., 2018).

In fruit pulp, several sugars (e.g. sucrose, trehalose and galactose-6-phosphate) and sugar alcohols (e.g. inositol and xylitol) were mostly accumulated after girdling treatments respect to control and this effect was more marked (prominent) with a later treatment (Girdling 4W vs vs Girdling 2W). The accumulation of sugars and sugar alcohols have long been found in plant tissues above the girdling area (Goren et al., 2010; Michailidis et al., 2020). ~~According to, in both 4W and 2W fruits, M~~many organic acids, especially some TCA cycle intermediates such as α -ketoglutaric, citric, isocitric, fumaric and malic acid were accumulated in both 4W and 2W fruits. These results suggest an upregulation of the respiratory metabolism promoted by girdling; the oxidation of carbohydrates (that are accumulated at higher quantity in girdled treatments respect to the control) via glycolysis provides carbon skeleton for the TCA cycle contributing to the generation of their intermediates (organic acids) (Batista-Silva et al., 2018). Moreover, in leaves Figueroa et al. (2016) proposed a sugar sensing mechanism that stimulates the anaplerotic synthesis of organic acids and it is possible that the girdling treatment influences this network. Organic acids, in turn, can be used for the biosynthesis of amino acids (Mifflin

and Lea, 1977), for which an increase of β -Alanine, GABA, L-Leucine, L-Proline and L-Serine content was detected mainly in Girdling 4W with respect to the control. The [accumulation of amino acids in the pulp](#) ~~accumulation of~~ girdled fruits can be potentially related to different coexisting physiological phenomenon: i) their reduced use in cellular biosynthetic processes; [and](#) ii) a strong phloem sap (which also contains amino acids; Famiani et al., 2012) translocation to the fruit (the only active sink which was studied in girdling conditions in the present experiments). Despite the metabolic picture described above, [in not-girdled conditions in normal condition](#) throughout the fruit ripening, in the majority of fleshy fruits, sugar content normally increases (due to fruit starch degradation and the import of sugars from source tissues), whereas the level of organic acids and amino acids tends to decrease (Nardozza et al., 2013; Batista-Silva et al., 2018; Jiang et al., 2019). The results suggested that girdling treatment increased several organic acids and amino acids biosynthesis in fruit pulp, in accordance with other works in which an increase in these compounds especially those related to TCA cycle was detected (Basile et al., 2018; Michailidis et al., 2020). However, in these works emerge that fruit variety as well as the fruit developmental stage (at which girdling is performed) can strongly influence the primary metabolism responses to the girdling treatment.

Another physiological consequence due to girdling, related to the sugars increase, is the increase in anthocyanin biosynthesis in fruit tissue (Basile et al., 2018; Nardozza et al., 2018; Michailidis et al., 2020). Anthocyanins constitute one of the end-branch of phenol pathway, formed by the glycosylation (through glucosyltransferase UFGT enzyme action) of anthocyanidin with one or more sugars (Silva et al., 2016). At the molecular level, anthocyanins can be induced by sugar signalling network (Das et al., 2012; Solfanelli et al., 2006). Therefore, the sugars accumulation in fruit pulp under girdling conditions likely induced the anthocyanin biosynthesis making the pulp more reddish than that of control. Anthocyanins share the same metabolic intermediates with another group of phenols, epicatechins (Mouradov and

Spangenberg, 2014). Epicatechins are produced by the reduction of anthocyanidin through anthocyanidin reductase (ANR) enzyme. A molecular cross-talk between epicatechins and anthocyanins production was reported for some plant species, since these two molecules need the same substrate (anthocyanidin). Ectopic expression of ANR resulted in an accumulation of epicatechins with a consequent reduction of anthocyanins in transgenic tobacco plants (Xie, 2003), whereas downregulation of ANR induced an accumulation of anthocyanins in plant tissue (Fischer et al., 2014; Mouradov and Spangenberg, 2014). This could in part explain the increase in anthocyanins in pulp with a parallel reduction in epicatechins as observed in Girdling 2W.

4.4. Metabolic alteration in skin

The fruit skin is the primary fruit defence line, since it represents the interface between fruit and its environment, constituting a physio-chemical barrier to biotic and abiotic stressors such as pathogens, drought and UV light. For these reasons, fruit skin is very rich in phytochemical compounds more than pulp including phenols, ascorbic acid, glutathione and others antioxidant enzymes (Li et al., 2008; Cosmulescu et al., 2015). At the same time, as for consumers, fruit skin features are essential for animal attraction, which is essential for species propagation.

Rarely the metabolic changes in fruit skin after girdling treatment have been studied (Yang, 2009), since usually skin represents a fruit aesthetic trait and only colour changes were measured (Agusti et al., 1998; Simmons et al., 1998; Ren et al., 2013). However, in fruits with edible skin, the detection of changes in metabolite content can be useful to understand the physiological responses to girdling, and also to improve fruit nutritional qualities. As a matter of [factfact,s](#), the metabolomic traits of fruit skin in both girdling treatments were perturbed respect to the control, even if these effects were more evident in the Girdling 4W respect to the

2W one. In particular, Girdling 4W induced major change in sugar contents with consequent accumulation of sugars (e.g. glucose 6-phosphate and fructose 6-phosphate) and sugar alcohols (sorbitol 6-phosphate, xylose and xylitol). Furthermore, many organic acids related to TCA cycle (a-ketoglutaric acid, citric acid and succinic acid) and amino acids related or not to TCA cycle (e.g. asparagine, threonine, L-Isoleucine, b-Alanine and L-Phenylalanine) were increased in Girdling 4W, suggesting a similar trend and explanation proposed for pulp tissue. Specifically, the increase in L-Phenylalanine, a substrate of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (a key enzyme of phenolic metabolism) (MacDonald and D’Cunha, 2007), with a parallel increase in polyphenols (chlorogenic acid, epicatechin, ferulic acid and anthocyanins) in Girdling 4W can likely suggest a stimulation of secondary metabolism due to the girdling treatment. However, results showed an increase in anthocyanin content in both treatments. Though in each treatment, skin TA were ~4-fold higher than values found in pulp, their increase was lower in percentage when compared to that detected in the pulp, probably because also epicatechins increased in both treatments constituting a competitor for their biosynthesis.

Girdling also had a positive effect on ascorbic acid content in skin respect to the control increasing also its oxidised form the dehydroascorbic acid. Ascorbic acid is one of the most abundant antioxidants (Li et al., 2008), and ~~his-its~~ increase in skin tissues can provide a further fruit resistance to oxidative stresses ~~given by girdling~~. However, remains unclear whether its increase is due to increased soluble sugar availability stimulated ~~his-its~~ biosynthesis or to an increased import from foliage or other fruit tissues (Li et al., 2008; Yang et al., 2013).

The focus on primary metabolomic changes induced by girdling gave us a partial picture of skin metabolism. Further study on skin secondary metabolism profile (that probably have major importance in the skin than pulp) needs to be addressed. However, as shown by the present dataset, skin physiological responses and potential metabolic changes to girdling seem to be closely related to the girdling time.

4.5. Girdling influences on total antioxidant activity in pulp and skin

There are several biological reasons that support the health-promoting effects given by fruits consumption. Fruits are rich in fibres, carbohydrates, vitamins and bioactive compounds characterised by high antioxidant properties (Del Río-Celestino and Font, 2020). Girdling applied at different time before harvest of the fruit differentially increased several bioactive molecules (e.g. anthocyanins, chlorogenic acid, epicatechin, ferulic acid and ascorbic acid) as described in the previous paragraph in both fruit pulp and skin. However, it worth to be highlighted that only Girdling 4W showed a relative increase in TAA respect to control in both pulp and skin. This shows that even though the concentration of several biologically-active molecules were increased in both treatments, a longer girdling treatment (in which these compounds were more accumulated) is required to increase the TAA in the fruit. In accordance with a very recent research by Michailidis et al (2020), the dataset presented herein confirms that girdling is a valid treatment to enhance the biosynthesis of bioactive molecules, which could be proficiently exploited for the production of ‘Nutrafruits’.

5. Conclusion

The hypothesis that girdling influences fruit characteristics, primary metabolism, anthocyanin level and antioxidant activity in *Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii* fruit was confirmed. In our experiment, the girdling treatment influenced the normal fruit metabolic dynamics in both skin and pulp by inducing accumulation of sugars, sugar alcohols, organic acids, amino acids, anthocyanins and other phenols. Girdling 4W was the treatment that led to more positive changes in fruits (under qualitative and nutritional aspects) than Girdling 2W. This approach could be used with other commercial fruit varieties and species in order to help

growers to ensure a production of red-fleshed fruits with a homogeneous red coloration and higher antioxidant properties. Moreover, results of the present manuscript reinforce the idea that new researches should be conducted to understand possible further influences given by different girdling dates, in order to understand when to perform the girdling to obtain fruits with high-quality characteristics, since also a late girdling induced strong responses in *P. cerasifera* var. *pissardii* fruits.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

Founding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

References

- Agusti, M., Andreu, I., Juan, M., Almela, V., Zacarias, L., 1998. Effects of ringing branches on fruit size and maturity of peach and nectarine cultivars. *J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol.* 73, 537–540. <https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.1998.11511011>
- Basile, T., Alba, V., Gentilesco, G., Savino, M., Tarricone, L., 2018. Anthocyanins pattern variation in relation to thinning and girdling in commercial Sugrathirteen® table grape. *Sci. Hortic.* 227, 202–206. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2017.09.045>
- Batista-Silva, W., Nascimento, V.L., Medeiros, D.B., Nunes-Nesi, A., Ribeiro, D.M., Zsögön, A., Araújo, W.L., 2018. Modifications in organic acid profiles during fruit development and ripening: Correlation or causation? *Front. Plant Sci.* 9, 1689. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01689>

- Battino, M., Beekwilder, J., Denoyes-Rothan, B., Laimer, M., McDougall, G.J., Mezzetti, B., 2009. Bioactive compounds in berries relevant to human health. *Nutr. Rev.* 67, S145–S150. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1753-4887.2009.00178.x>
- Brand-Williams, W., Cuvelier, M.E., Berset, C., 1995. Use of a free radical method to evaluate antioxidant activity. *LWT - Food Sci. Technol.* 28, 25–30. [https://doi.org/10.1016/S0023-6438\(95\)80008-5](https://doi.org/10.1016/S0023-6438(95)80008-5)
- Chong, J., Soufan, O., Li, C., Caraus, I., Li, S., Bourque, G., Wishart, D.S., Xia, J., 2018. MetaboAnalyst 4.0: towards more transparent and integrative metabolomics analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 46, W486–W494. <https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gky310>
- Cosmulescu, S., Trandafir, I., Nour, V., Botu, M., 2015. Total phenolic, flavonoid distribution and antioxidant capacity in skin, pulp and fruit extracts of plum cultivars: phenolic, flavonoids, antioxidant capacity in plum. *J. Food Biochem.* 39, 64–69. <https://doi.org/10.1111/jfbc.12112>
- Das, P.K., Shin, D.H., Choi, S.-B., Park, Y.-I., 2012. Sugar-hormone cross-talk in anthocyanin biosynthesis. *Mol. Cells* 34, 501–507. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s10059-012-0151-x>
- Day, K.R., DeJong, T., 1998. Improving fruit size: thinning and girdling nectarines, peaches, and plums. Presented at the Curso Internacional de Fruticultura de Clima Templado-Frío in Mendoza, Argentina.
- Del Río-Celestino, M., Font, R., 2020. The health benefits of fruits and vegetables. *Foods* 9, 369. <https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9030369>
- Di Vaio, C., Petito, A., Buccheri, M., 2001. Effect of girdling on gas exchanges and leaf mineral content in the “Indipendence” nectarine. *J. Plant Nutr.* 24, 1047–1060. <https://doi.org/10.1081/PLN-100103802>
- Espley, R.V., Bovy, A., Bava, C., Jaeger, S.R., Tomes, S., Norling, C., Crawford, J., Rowan, D., McGhie, T.K., Brendolise, C., Putterill, J., Schouten, H.J., Hellens, R.P., Allan, A.C., 2013. Analysis of genetically modified red-fleshed apples reveals effects on growth and consumer attributes. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* 11, 408–419. <https://doi.org/10.1111/pbi.12017>
- Fallahi, E., Kiester, M.J., Fallahi, B., Mahdavi, S., 2018. Rootstock, canopy architecture, bark girdling, and scoring influence on growth, productivity, and fruit quality at harvest in ‘Aztec Fuji’ apple. *HortScience* 53, 1629–1633. <https://doi.org/10.21273/HORTSCI13348-18>
- Famiani, F., Casulli, V., Baldicchi, A., Battistelli, A., Moscatello, S., Walker, R.P., 2012. Development and metabolism of the fruit and seed of the Japanese plum Ozark premier (*Rosaceae*). *J. Plant Physiol.* 169, 551–560. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jplph.2011.11.020>
- Figueroa, C.M., Feil, R., Ishihara, H., Watanabe, M., Kölling, K., Krause, U., Höhne, M., Encke, B., Plaxton, W.C., Zeeman, S.C., Li, Z., Schulze, W.X., Hoefgen, R., Stitt, M., Lunn, J.E., 2016. Trehalose 6-phosphate coordinates organic and amino acid metabolism with carbon availability. *Plant J.* 85, 410–423. <https://doi.org/10.1111/tpj.13114>
- Fischer, T.C., Mirbeth, B., Rentsch, J., Sutter, C., Ring, L., Flachowsky, H., Habegger, R., Hoffmann, T., Hanke, M.-V., Schwab, W., 2014. Premature and ectopic anthocyanin formation by silencing of anthocyanidin reductase in strawberry (*Fragaria × ananassa*). *New Phytol.* 201, 440–451. <https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12528>
- Gawankar, M.S., Haldankar, P.M., Salvi, B.R., Parulekar, Y.R., Dalvi, N.V., Kulkarni, M.M., Saitwal, Y.S., Nalage, N.A., 2019. Effect of girdling on induction of flowering and quality of fruits in horticultural crops- A review. *Adv. Agric. Res. Technol. J.* 3, 201–215.

- Giusti, M.M., Wrolstad, R.E., 2001. Characterization and measurement of anthocyanins by UV-visible spectroscopy. *Curr. Protoc. Food Anal. Chem.* 00, F1.2.1-F1.2.13. <https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142913.faf0102s00>
- Goren, R., Huberman, M., Goldschmidt, E.E., 2010. Girdling: Physiological and horticultural aspects, in: Janick, J. (Ed.), *Horticultural Reviews*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Oxford, UK, pp. 1–36. <https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470650837.ch1>
- Gramza-Michałowska, A., Bueschke, M., Kulczyński, B., Gliszczyńska-Świgło, A., Kmiecik, D., Bilska, A., Purłan, M., Wałęsa, L., Ostrowski, M., Filipczuk, M., Jędrusek-Golińska, A., 2019. Phenolic compounds and multivariate analysis of antiradical properties of red fruits. *J. Food Meas. Charact.* 13, 1739–1747. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11694-019-00091-x>
- Hidalgo, G.I., Almajano, M., 2017. Red fruits: extraction of antioxidants, phenolic content, and radical scavenging determination: A review. *Antioxidants* 6, 7. <https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox6010007>
- Horai, H., Arita, M., Kanaya, S., Nihei, Y., Ikeda, T., Suwa, K., Ojima, Y., Tanaka, Kenichi, Tanaka, S., Aoshima, K., Oda, Y., Kakazu, Y., Kusano, M., Tohge, T., Matsuda, F., Sawada, Y., Hirai, M.Y., Nakanishi, H., Ikeda, K., Akimoto, N., Maoka, T., Takahashi, H., Ara, T., Sakurai, N., Suzuki, H., Shibata, D., Neumann, S., Iida, T., Tanaka, Ken, Funatsu, K., Matsuura, F., Soga, T., Taguchi, R., Saito, K., Nishioka, T., 2010. MassBank: a public repository for sharing mass spectral data for life sciences. *J. Mass Spectrom.* 45, 703–714. <https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.1777>
- Hörtensteiner, S., Krätler, B., 2011. Chlorophyll breakdown in higher plants. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA - Bioenerg.* 1807, 977–988. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbabi.2010.12.007>
- Ilha, L.L.H., Marodin, G.A.B., Seibert, E., Barradas, C.I.N., 1999. Efeito do raleio e do anelamento do tronco no crescimento, produção e qualidade da ameixeira japonesa. *Pesqui. Agropecuária Bras.* 34, 2211–2217. <https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X1999001200006>
- Jiang, C.C., Fang, Z.Z., Zhou, D.R., Pan, S.L., Ye, X.F., 2019. Changes in secondary metabolites, organic acids and soluble sugars during the development of plum fruit cv. ‘Furongli’ (*Prunus salicina* Lindl): Metabolism of key compounds during plum development. *J. Sci. Food Agric.* 99, 1010–1019. <https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.9265>
- Kato, M., Shimizu, S., 1985. Chlorophyll metabolism in higher plants VI. Involvement of peroxidase in chlorophyll degradation. *Plant Cell Physiol.* <https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.pcp.a077029>
- Kayesh, E., Shangguan, L., Korir, N.K., Sun, X., Bilkish, N., Zhang, Y., Han, J., Song, C., Cheng, Z.-M., Fang, J., 2013. Fruit skin color and the role of anthocyanin. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* 35, 2879–2890. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-013-1332-8>
- Khoo, H.E., Azlan, A., Tang, S.T., Lim, S.M., 2017. Anthocyanidins and anthocyanins: colored pigments as food, pharmaceutical ingredients, and the potential health benefits. *Food Nutr. Res.* 61.
- Kırbağ, S., Göztek, F., 2016. *Prunus cerasifera* cv. *pissardii nigra* nın antioksidan ve antimikrobiyal aktivitesi. *Artvin Çoruh Üniversitesi Orman Fakültesi Derg.* 17. <https://doi.org/10.17474/acuofd.90361>
- Kopka, J., 2006. Current challenges and developments in GC–MS based metabolite profiling technology. *J. Biotechnol.* 124, 312–322. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2005.12.012>
- Koshita, Y., 2015. Effect of temperature on fruit color development, in: Kanayama, Y., Kochetov, A. (Eds.), *Abiotic Stress Biology in Horticultural Plants*. Springer Japan, Tokyo, pp. 47–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-55251-2_4

- Li, M.-J., Ma, F.-W., Zhang, M., Pu, F., 2008. Distribution and metabolism of ascorbic acid in apple fruits (*Malus domestica* Borkh cv. Gala). *Plant Sci.* 174, 606–612. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2008.03.008>
- Lichtenthaler, H.K., 1987. [34] Chlorophylls and carotenoids: Pigments of photosynthetic biomembranes, in: *Methods in Enzymology*. Elsevier, pp. 350–382. [https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879\(87\)48036-1](https://doi.org/10.1016/0076-6879(87)48036-1)
- Lisec, J., Schauer, N., Kopka, J., Willmitzer, L., Fernie, A.R., 2006. Gas chromatography mass spectrometry–based metabolite profiling in plants. *Nat. Protoc.* 1, 387–396. <https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.59>
- Lo Piccolo, E., Landi, M., Giordani, T., Lorenzini, G., Malorgio, F., Massai, R., Nali, C., Pellegrini, E., Rallo, G., Remorini, D., Vernieri, P., Guidi, L., 2020a. Can anthocyanin presence help *Prunus* saplings to alleviate water stress effects in an urban environment? *Photosynthetica*.
- Lo Piccolo, E., Landi, M., Massai, R., Remorini, D., Guidi, L., 2020b. Girdled-induced anthocyanin accumulation in red-leaved *Prunus cerasifera*: Effect on photosynthesis, photoprotection and sugar metabolism. *Plant Sci.* 294, 110456. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plantsci.2020.110456>
- Lo Piccolo, E., Landi, M., Pellegrini, E., Agati, G., Giordano, C., Giordani, T., Lorenzini, G., Malorgio, F., Massai, R., Nali, C., Rallo, G., Remorini, D., Vernieri, P., Guidi, L., 2018. Multiple consequences induced by epidermally-located anthocyanins in young, mature and senescent leaves of *Prunus*. *Front. Plant Sci.* 9, 917. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00917>
- MacDonald, M.J., D’Cunha, G.B., 2007. A modern view of phenylalanine ammonia lyase. *Biochem. Cell Biol.* 85, 273–282. <https://doi.org/10.1139/O07-018>
- Mertes, E.F., Close, D.C., Corkrey, R., Jones, J.E., 2016. The effect of carbohydrate availability on postharvest fruit quality in sweet cherry. *Acta Hort.* 385–390. <https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2016.1120.59>
- Michailidis, M., Karagiannis, E., Tanou, G., Samiotaki, M., Sarrou, E., Karamanoli, K., Lazaridou, A., Martens, S., Molassiotis, A., 2020. Proteomic and metabolic analysis reveals novel sweet cherry fruit development regulatory points influenced by girdling. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 149, 233–244. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2020.02.017>
- Mifflin, B.J., Lea, P.J., 1977. Amino acid metabolism. *Annu. Rev. Plant Physiol.* 28, 299–329.
- Moscatello, S., Proietti, S., Augusti, A., Scartazza, A., Walker, R.P., Famiani, F., Battistelli, A., 2017. Late summer photosynthesis and storage carbohydrates in walnut (*Juglans regia* L.): Feed-back and feed-forward effects. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 118, 618–626. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2017.07.025>
- Mouradov, A., Spangenberg, G., 2014. Flavonoids: a metabolic network mediating plants adaptation to their real estate. *Front. Plant Sci.* 5. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2014.00620>
- Nardoza, S., Boldingh, H.L., Kashuba, M.P., Feil, R., Jones, D., Thrimawithana, A.H., Ireland, H.S., Philippe, M., Wohlers, M.W., McGhie, T.K., Montefiori, M., Lunn, J.E., Allan, A.C., Richardson, A.C., 2019. Carbon starvation reduces carbohydrate and anthocyanin accumulation in red-fleshed fruit via trehalose 6-phosphate and MYB27. *Plant Cell Environ.* pce.13699. <https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.13699>
- Nardoza, S., Boldingh, H.L., Kashuba, M.P., McCaughan, L., Philippe, M., Wohlers, M., McGhie, T., Currie, M.B., Montefiori, M., Richardson, A.C., 2018. Effects of the manipulation of carbohydrate supply on fruit dry matter and colour development in a block-red *Actinidia chinensis* var. *chinensis* genotype. *Acta Hort.* 155–162. <https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2018.1218.21>

- Nardozza, S., Boldingh, H.L., Osorio, S., Höhne, M., Wohlers, M., Gleave, A.P., MacRae, E.A., Richardson, A.C., Atkinson, R.G., Sulpice, R., Fernie, A.R., Clearwater, M.J., 2013. Metabolic analysis of kiwifruit (*Actinidia deliciosa*) berries from extreme genotypes reveals hallmarks for fruit starch metabolism. *J. Exp. Bot.* 64, 5049–5063. <https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/ert293>
- Nardozza, S., Kashuba, P., McCaughan, L., Philippe, M., Wohlers, M., Montefiori, M., Currie, M., Richardson, A., 2015. Leaves are important to obtain consistent red flesh pigmentation in *Actinidia chinensis* fruit. *Sci. Hortic.* 197, 496–503. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2015.10.008>
- Neeraj, S., 2011. Studies on improvement of fruit quality through girdling and thinning in “satluj” purple plum. Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana.
- Noel, A.R.A., 1970. The girdled tree. *Bot. Rev.* 36, 162–195. <https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02858959>
- Olivares, D., Contreras, C., Muñoz, V., Rivera, S., González-Agüero, M., Retamales, J., Defilippi, B.G., 2017. Relationship among color development, anthocyanin and pigment-related gene expression in ‘Crimson Seedless’ grapes treated with abscisic acid and sucrose. *Plant Physiol. Biochem.* 115, 286–297. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2017.04.007>
- Ren, J., Peng, Li, X., Hong, Dong, R., Qi, Song, X., Xin, Gu, Y., Fang, Tao, J., Min, 2013. Effect of girdling and ABA treatment on fruit quality and peel coloring of “Summer Black” grape. *J. Fruit Sci.* 30, 968–974.
- Silva, V.O., Freitas, A.A., Maçanita, A.L., Quina, F.H., 2016. Chemistry and photochemistry of natural plant pigments: The anthocyanins. *J. Phys. Org. Chem.* 29, 594–599. <https://doi.org/10.1002/poc.3534>
- Simmons, S.L., Hofman, P.J., Whiley, A.W., Hetherington, S.E., 1998. Effects of leaf: fruit ratios on fruit growth, mineral concentration and quality of mango (*Mangifera indica* L. cv. Kensington Pride). *J. Hortic. Sci. Biotechnol.* 73, 367–374. <https://doi.org/10.1080/14620316.1998.11510987>
- Solfanelli, C., Poggi, A., Loreti, E., Alpi, A., Perata, P., 2006. Sucrose-specific induction of the anthocyanin biosynthetic pathway in *Arabidopsis*. *Plant Physiol.* 140, 637–646. <https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.105.072579>
- Sumner, L.W., Amberg, A., Barrett, D., Beale, M.H., Beger, R., Daykin, C.A., Fan, T.W.-M., Fiehn, O., Goodacre, R., Griffin, J.L., Hankemeier, T., Hardy, N., Harnly, J., Higashi, R., Kopka, J., Lane, A.N., Lindon, J.C., Marriott, P., Nicholls, A.W., Reily, M.D., Thaden, J.J., Viant, M.R., 2007. Proposed minimum reporting standards for chemical analysis: Chemical Analysis Working Group (CAWG) Metabolomics Standards Initiative (MSI). *Metabolomics* 3, 211–221. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11306-007-0082-2>
- Szajdek, A., Borowska, E.J., 2008. Bioactive compounds and health-promoting properties of berry fruits: A review. *Plant Foods Hum. Nutr.* 63, 147–156. <https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-008-0097-5>
- Tsugawa, H., Cajka, T., Kind, T., Ma, Y., Higgins, B., Ikeda, K., Kanazawa, M., VanderGheynst, J., Fiehn, O., Arita, M., 2015. MS-DIAL: data-independent MS/MS deconvolution for comprehensive metabolome analysis. *Nat. Methods* 12, 523–526. <https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3393>
- Willson, M.F., Whelan, C.J., 1990. The evolution of fruit color in fleshy-fruited plants. *Am. Nat.* 136, 790–809. <https://doi.org/10.1086/285132>
- Xie, D.Y., 2003. Role of anthocyanidin reductase, encoded by BANYULS in plant flavonoid biosynthesis. *Science* 299, 396–399. <https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1078540>

- Yang, J., 2009. Assessing the impact of climate change on urban tree species selection: A case study in Philadelphia. *J. For.* 107, 364–372. <https://doi.org/10.1093/jof/107.7.364>
- Yang, X.Y., Wang, F.F., Teixeira da Silva, J.A., Zhong, J., Liu, Y.Z., Peng, S.-A., 2013. Branch girdling at fruit green mature stage affects fruit ascorbic acid contents and expression of genes involved in L -galactose pathway in citrus. *N. Z. J. Crop Hortic. Sci.* 41, 23–31. <https://doi.org/10.1080/01140671.2012.724429>
- Zhang, J., Kirkham, M.B., 1996. Antioxidant responses to drought in sunflower and sorghum seedlings. *New Phytol.* 132, 361–373. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.1996.tb01856.x>

Legends of figures

Figure 1. Chromaticity coordinates of control (open circles), 4-weeks [\(before the harvest\)](#) girdling (open squares) and 2-weeks [\(before the harvest\)](#) girdling (open triangles) in pulp (A) and skin (B) of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*).

Figure 2. Pearson's correlation coefficient between total anthocyanin concentration (TA), CIELab [parameters](#) lightness (L^*), redness and greenness (a^* and $-a^*$), yellowness and blueness (b^* and $-b^*$), chroma (C^*) hue angle ($-L^*$, a^* , b^* , C^* and h_{ab}), dry matter (DM) and soluble solid content (SSC) in pulp and skin of treated and control plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). *: $P < 0.05$. **: $P < 0.01$; ***: $P < 0.001$.

Figure 3. Total antioxidant activity (TAA) determined in control (open bars), 4-weeks [\(before the harvest\)](#) girdling (closed bars) and 2-weeks [\(before the harvest\)](#) girdling (semi-closed bars) pulp (A) and skin (B) of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). The mean values (\pm SD; $n = 4$) were subjected to one-way ANOVA with treatment as the source of variations. Means flanked by the same letter are not statistically different for $P = 0.05$ after Fisher's least significant difference post-hoc test.

Figure 4. Principal component analysis (PCA) score and loading plot determined in pulp (A,B) and skin (C,D) of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*) by using the metabolome profile of control, 4-weeks [\(before the harvest\)](#) girdling and 2-weeks [\(before the harvest\)](#) girdling treatments.

Tables

Table 1.

Parameters	Units	Fruit		
		Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W
Width	mm	21.47 ± 1.06 ^b	22.69 ± 0.75 ^a	21.13 ± 0.76 ^b
Height	mm	20.58 ± 1.12 ^b	21.74 ± 1.08 ^a	20.75 ± 0.95 ^b
Weight	g	5.32 ± 0.66 ^b	6.61 ± 1.05 ^a	5.29 ± 0.34 ^b
SSC	°Brix	11.8 ± 0.74 ^c	13.5 ± 1.2 ^a	12.7 ± 1.2 ^b
DM (Pulp)	%	24.09 ± 2.40 ^b	26.55 ± 3.08 ^a	26.15 ± 2.64 ^a
DM (Skin)	%	43.85 ± 4.95	45.99 ± 9.69	45.66 ± 6.82

Morphological and quality parameters in Control, 4-weeks ([before the harvest](#)) girdling and 2-weeks ([before the harvest](#)) girdling of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). The mean values (\pm SD; $n = 20$) were subjected to one-way ANOVA with treatment as the source of variations. Means flanked by the same letter are not statistically different for $P = 0.05$ after Fisher's least significant difference post-hoc test.

Table 2.

Parameters	Pulp			Skin		
	Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W	Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W
L*	27.02 ± 6.92 ^a	14.32 ± 3.94 ^c	19.53 ± 6.25 ^b	10.75 ± 3.29 ^a	5.46 ± 2.24 ^b	11.25 ± 3.47 ^a
a*	23.04 ± 8.52 ^b	33.12 ± 6.87 ^a	32.49 ± 4.15 ^a	32.29 ± 5.90 ^b	30.30 ± 4.19 ^b	36.97 ± 2.30 ^a
b*	44.07 ± 9.54 ^a	22.58 ± 8.09 ^c	32.80 ± 8.00 ^b	12.58 ± 6.39 ^b	6.76 ± 3.72 ^c	17.22 ± 7.44 ^a
C*	50.89 ± 6.43 ^a	40.79 ± 7.29 ^c	46.64 ± 5.95 ^b	34.93 ± 7.50 ^b	31.19 ± 4.72 ^c	41.21 ± 4.79 ^a
h_{ab}	61.76 ± 13.35 ^a	33.98 ± 11.69 ^c	44.59 ± 8.65 ^b	20.33 ± 6.88 ^a	12.03 ± 5.58 ^b	24.11 ± 8.43 ^a

CIELAB parameters: lightness (L*), redness (a*), yellowness (b*), chroma (C*) and hue angle (h_{ab}) of pulp and skin in Control, 4-weeks ([before the harvest](#)) girdling and 2-weeks ([before the harvest](#)) girdling of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). The mean values (\pm SD; $n = 20$) were subjected to one-way ANOVA with treatment as the source of variations. Means flanked by the same letter are not statistically different for $P = 0.05$ after Fisher's least significant difference post-hoc test.

Table 3.

Parameters	Units (FW)	Pulp			Skin		
		Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W	Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W
TA	mg g ⁻¹	0.08 ± 0.02 ^c	0.16 ± 0.03 ^a	0.12 ± 0.03 ^b	0.37 ± 0.13 ^c	0.61 ± 0.09 ^a	0.46 ± 0.09 ^b
Chl _{TOT}	mg 100 g ⁻¹	0.72 ± 0.12	0.73 ± 0.11	0.68 ± 0.07	6.70 ± 0.44 ^a	4.91 ± 0.87 ^b	5.56 ± 0.38 ^b
Car	mg 100 g ⁻¹	0.83 ± 0.13	1.02 ± 0.07	0.93 ± 0.13	3.79 ± 0.56	4.19 ± 0.53	3.90 ± 0.29

Total anthocyanins (TA), total chlorophylls (Chl_{TOT}) and total carotenoids (Car) of pulp and skin in Control, 4-weeks ([before the harvest](#)) girdling and 2-weeks ([before the harvest](#)) girdling of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). The mean values (±SD; *n* = 20) were subjected to one-way ANOVA with treatment as the source of variations. Means flanked by the same letter are not statistically different for *P* = 0.05 after Fisher's least significant difference post-hoc test.

Table 4.

Compounds	Pulp			Skin			Classes
	Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W	Control	Girdling 4W	Girdling 2W	
Alanine	0.346 ^a	0.017 ^b	0.046 ^a	-	-	-	<i>Amino acids</i>
Asparagine	-	-	-	0.264 ^b	0.350 ^a	0.345 ^a	
β-Alanine	0.216 ^c	0.275 ^a	0.242 ^b	0.156 ^b	0.211 ^a	0.138 ^c	
b-Cyano-L-Alanine	0.012 ^a	0.008 ^b	0.014 ^a	-	-	-	
GABA	0.852 ^b	2.174 ^a	0.874 ^b	0.881 ^b	2.017 ^a	0.966 ^b	
L-Aspartic acid	-	-	-	0.240 ^b	0.227 ^b	0.309 ^a	
L-Glutamic acid	-	-	-	0.337 ^a	0.304 ^a	0.250 ^b	
L-Isoleucine	-	-	-	0.002 ^b	0.004 ^a	0.002 ^b	
L-Leucine	0.003 ^b	0.007 ^a	0.002 ^b	-	-	-	
L-Lysine	0.003 ^b	0.004 ^{ab}	0.005 ^a	-	-	-	
L-Norvaline	0.113 ^{ab}	0.182 ^a	0.060 ^b	0.027 ^b	0.060 ^a	0.024 ^b	
L-Phenylalanine	-	-	-	0.044 ^b	0.055 ^a	0.031 ^c	
L-Proline	0.005 ^b	0.080 ^a	0.052 ^a	-	-	-	
L-Serine	0.622 ^b	0.810 ^a	0.652 ^b	0.073 ^a	0.082 ^a	0.043 ^b	
L-Threonine	-	-	-	0.046 ^b	0.121 ^a	0.043 ^b	
α-Ketoglutaric acid	0.632 ^b	0.682 ^a	0.699 ^a	0.791 ^b	0.938 ^a	0.775 ^b	<i>Organic acids</i>
Aconitic acid	0.029 ^b	0.028 ^b	0.042 ^a	-	-	-	
Citramalic acid	0.010 ^b	0.008 ^c	0.012 ^a	0.015 ^b	0.023 ^a	0.016 ^b	

Citric acid	0.002 ^b	0.002 ^a	0.002 ^a	1.110 ^b	1.612 ^a	0.940 ^b	
Dehydroascorbic acid	-	-	-	0.034 ^c	0.049 ^b	0.074 ^a	
DL-Isocitric acid	0.019 ^b	0.026 ^a	0.020 ^b	-	-	-	
Fumaric acid	0.897 ^b	0.760 ^c	1.25 ^a	1.271 ^a	1.178 ^{ab}	1.052 ^b	
Gluconic acid	0.058 ^b	0.060 ^b	0.075 ^a	0.116 ^b	0.095 ^c	0.134 ^a	
Glutaric acid	0.025 ^c	0.037 ^a	0.031 ^b	0.031 ^b	0.040 ^a	0.030 ^b	
Glycolic acid	-	-	-	0.025 ^b	0.031 ^a	0.015 ^c	
Isocitric acid minor	0.084 ^c	0.100 ^b	0.109 ^a	-	-	-	
L-ascorbic acid	-	-	-	0.027 ^b	0.040 ^a	0.045 ^a	
L-Tartrate	0.002 ^a	0.001 ^b	0.002 ^a	0.001 ^b	0.001 ^a	0.001 ^b	
Maleic acid	2.78 ^b	2.63 ^b	3.44 ^a	-	-	-	
Malic acid	0.261 ^b	0.290 ^a	0.305 ^a	-	-	-	
Malonic acid	0.005 ^a	0.004 ^b	0.006 ^a	-	-	-	
Methylsuccinic acid	-	-	-	0.030 ^a	0.016 ^b	0.013 ^b	
Phosphoric acid	0.878 ^b	0.990 ^a	1.019 ^a	-	-	-	
Quinic acid	2.650 ^c	2.887 ^b	3.106 ^a	-	-	-	
Shikimic acid	1.438 ^a	0.879 ^c	1.341 ^b	2.087 ^a	1.692 ^b	1.722 ^b	
Succinic acid	-	-	-	1.703 ^b	2.213 ^a	1.594 ^b	
Threonic acid	0.559 ^b	0.591 ^b	0.655 ^a	0.111 ^b	0.146 ^a	0.139 ^a	
3,4-Dihydroxybenzoate	-	-	-	0.055 ^c	0.071 ^a	0.063 ^b	<i>Phenols</i>
Benzoic acid	-	-	-	0.001 ^b	0.005 ^a	0.001 ^b	
Cafferic acid	0.007 ^a	0.005 ^b	0.011 ^a	0.041 ^b	0.034 ^b	0.055 ^a	
Chlorogenic acid	0.002 ^b	0.005 ^a	0.002 ^b	0.021 ^a	0.019 ^a	0.014 ^b	
Epicatechin	0.066 ^b	0.077 ^a	0.029 ^c	0.049 ^c	0.154 ^a	0.109 ^b	
Ferulic acid	-	-	-	0.005 ^b	0.006 ^a	0.006 ^a	
Pyrogallol	0.006 ^b	0.005 ^b	0.008 ^a	-	-	-	
α -Lactose	0.565 ^b	0.579 ^b	0.664 ^a	-	-	-	<i>Sugars</i>
β -Gentibiose	0.152 ^c	0.216 ^a	0.180 ^b	-	-	-	
β -Lactose	0.048 ^b	0.064 ^a	0.062 ^a	-	-	-	
D-Lyxose	0.946 ^b	1.123 ^a	1.018 ^{ab}	-	-	-	
D-Ribose	-	-	-	0.013 ^a	0.017 ^a	0.006 ^b	
D-Xylose	-	-	-	1.013 ^b	1.132 ^a	0.973 ^b	
Fructose-6-phosphate	-	-	-	0.070 ^b	0.118 ^a	0.081 ^b	
Galactose-6-phosphate	0.158 ^c	0.184 ^b	0.206 ^a	0.000 ^c	0.000 ^b	0.000 ^a	
Gentibiose	0.070 ^b	0.130 ^a	0.071 ^b	-	-	-	
Glucoheptulose	0.004 ^c	0.006 ^a	0.004 ^b	-	-	-	
Glucose-1-phosphate	0.489 ^a	0.376 ^b	0.510 ^a	-	-	-	
Glucose-6-phosphate	-	-	-	0.113 ^b	0.199 ^a	0.122 ^b	
Maltose	0.112 ^b	0.107 ^b	0.128 ^a	-	-	-	
Maltotriose	0.001 ^b	0.002 ^a	0.001 ^a	-	-	-	
Melbiose	0.133 ^b	0.308 ^a	0.145 ^b	0.171 ^b	0.222 ^a	0.121 ^c	
Ribose	0.274 ^b	0.285 ^b	0.338 ^a	-	-	-	
Sorbose	1.269 ^b	1.536 ^a	1.348 ^b	-	-	-	
Sucrose	0.019 ^c	0.029 ^a	0.026 ^b	-	-	-	
Trehalose	0.002 ^b	0.004 ^a	0.003 ^a	0.121 ^a	0.066 ^b	0.054 ^c	
Trisaccharide	0.000 ^b	0.000 ^a	0.000 ^b	0.006 ^b	0.013 ^a	0.003 ^c	
Arabitol	-	-	-	0.003 ^b	0.006 ^a	0.006 ^a	<i>Sugar alcohols</i>
Galactinol	0.000 ^b	0.000 ^a	0.000 ^b	0.038 ^b	0.053 ^a	0.032 ^c	
Galactitol	0.365 ^a	0.214 ^b	0.346 ^a	-	-	-	
Inositol	1.743 ^c	1.898 ^b	2.051 ^a	-	-	-	

Lactitol	0.045 ^b	0.079 ^a	0.047 ^b	0.213 ^b	0.245 ^a	0.160 ^c	
Maltitol	0.106 ^b	0.220 ^a	0.110 ^b	0.073 ^b	0.173 ^a	0.077 ^b	
Mannitol	0.502 ^{ab}	0.473 ^b	0.529 ^a	-	-	-	
Sorbitol	0.750 ^b	0.777 ^b	0.892 ^a	-	-	-	
Sorbitol-6-phosphate	-	-	-	0.005 ^c	0.012 ^a	0.007 ^b	
Xylitol	0.635 ^c	0.748 ^a	0.672 ^b	0.573 ^b	0.699 ^a	0.736 ^a	
3-Amino isobutyric acid	0.035 ^b	0.037 ^{ab}	0.039 ^a	0.032 ^b	0.038 ^a	0.024 ^c	<i>Amino acid derivatives</i>
Pyroglutamic acid	0.449 ^b	0.445 ^b	0.732 ^a	0.834 ^b	0.914 ^b	1.077 ^a	
Putrescine	0.147 ^b	0.152 ^b	0.184 ^a	0.129 ^b	0.163 ^a	0.112 ^c	
2-Aminoethanol	0.121 ^b	0.130 ^b	0.144 ^b	0.087 ^b	0.109 ^a	0.053 ^c	<i>Miscellaneous</i>
3-Aminopropionitrile fumarate	-	-	-	0.005 ^a	0.003 ^b	0.004 ^b	
4-Hydroxybenzoic acid	0.003 ^b	0.007 ^a	0.003 ^b	-	-	-	
4-Hydroxybutyric acid	-	-	-	0.001 ^b	0.002 ^a	0.001 ^c	
6-Phosphogluconic acid	0.007 ^c	0.014 ^a	0.010 ^b	-	-	-	
Adenosine	0.002 ^a	0.000 ^b	0.003 ^a	-	-	-	
β-mannosylglycerate	0.002 ^a	0.002 ^a	0.002 ^b	-	-	-	
Hydroxylamine	0.572 ^b	0.628 ^a	0.570 ^a	-	-	-	
Tryptamine	-	-	-	0.227 ^b	0.279 ^a	0.216 ^b	

Metabolomics profile of pulp and skin in Control, 4-weeks girdling and 2-weeks girdling of plum fruits (*Prunus cerasifera* var. *pissardii*). The mean values (\pm SD; $n = 4$) were subjected to one-way ANOVA with treatment as the source of variations. Means flanked by the same letter are not statistically different for $P = 0.05$ after Fisher's least significant difference post-hoc test.